2001

Heidi J. Judd, personally and as the natural parent
and guardian of Athan Montgomery for and on
behalf of Athan Montgomery v. Gregory Drezga,
M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code Annotated.

ISSUE

The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act limits the amount of damages that may be awarded in a medical malpractice action for such noneconomic harm as pain and suffering to \$250,000, regardless of the nature, extent and duration of the plaintiff's injuries. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-7.1 (the "damage cap"). Is the damage cap constitutional? Specifically,

1. Does the damage cap violate the Utah Constitution's guarantee of a right to a remedy for injury to one's person, UTAH CONST. art. I, § 11?
2. Does the damage cap violate the Utah Constitution's guarantee of due process, UTAH CONST. art. I, § 7?
3. Does the damage cap violate the Utah Constitution's guarantee of uniform operation of the laws, UTAH CONST. art. I, § 24?
4. Does the damage cap violate the Utah Constitution's guarantee of the right to a jury trial, UTAH CONST. art. I, § 10?
5. Does the damage cap violate the separation-of-powers provision of the Utah Constitution, UTAH CONST. art. V, § 1?

The issue of the damage cap's constitutionality was raised in the plaintiffs' memorandum in opposition to the defendant's motion to reduce the jury verdict prior to entry of judgment (Record ("R.") 447-572), and at the hearing on that motion (*see* R. 810).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The constitutionality of the damage cap is a question of law, which this court reviews for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's conclusion. *See, e.g., Ross v. Schackel*, 920 P.2d 1159, 1162 (Utah 1996).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES OR RULES

The following constitutional provisions and statute are determinative of the issues on appeal: Utah Constitution, article I, sections 7, 10, 11 and 24, and article V, section 1; Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-7.1. These provisions are set out in the addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

This is a medical malpractice action. Plaintiff Athan Montgomery suffered significant brain damage at his birth in May 1997 when the defendant, Dr. Gregory Drezga, a private physician, improperly used forceps in an attempt to deliver Athan. (*See*

R. 1-9.) Athan's mother, Heidi Judd, brought this action on his behalf. Following a four-day jury trial in December 2000, the trial court granted the plaintiffs' motion for a directed verdict, finding Dr. Drezga negligent as a matter of law and further finding that his negligence was the proximate cause of some injury to Athan. (R. 809, at 761.) The jury then found that Athan, who was three and a half years old at the time of trial, had sustained the following damages as a proximate result of Dr. Drezga's negligence:

Past Special Damages	\$22,735.30
Future Special Damages	\$1,000,000.00
General Damages	<u>\$1,250,000.00</u>
TOTAL DAMAGES:	\$2,272,735.30

(R. 360.) A judgment was entered for this amount. (R. 370-72.)

Dr. Drezga filed a motion to reduce the general damages to \$250,000 pursuant to section 78-14-7.1 of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-14-1 through -16. (R. 364-68.) The plaintiffs opposed the reduction, claiming that section 78-14-7.1 was unconstitutional. (R. 447-73.) Following a hearing (R. 810), the trial court granted Dr. Drezga's motion (R. 782) and reduced the general damages by \$1 million, to \$250,000 (R. 784-85). On July 16, 2001, the court entered an Amended Judgment in the amount of \$1,181,829.40 plus costs and interest. (R. 786-88.) The plaintiffs have appealed from the Amended Judgment. (R. 792-93.) Dr. Drezga has not cross-appealed

either the district court's directed verdict holding him liable as a matter of law or the jury's verdict finding that Athan has suffered \$1,250,000 in general damages.

B. Statement of Facts

The following facts were largely undisputed.

On May 15, 1997, the defendant, Dr. Drezga improperly induced labor in Heidi Judd. (R. 807, at 195-96, 207-08.) Heidi's baby, Athan Montgomery, was still high in the birth canal when his heart rate became dangerously low, because Athan's head was too large to come down any farther (*see* R. 807, at 214-15, 225, 229). Dr. Drezga tried to deliver Athan using forceps. (R. 806, at 95.) The forceps Dr. Drezga used were "medical antiques" (R. 806, at 145) of a type that had not been used generally for over ten years because they put too much pressure on the fetus's head (R. 806, at 138-40). Dr. Drezga positioned the forceps on Athan's head, braced himself by putting his feet against the delivery bed and pulled "[v]ery hard." (R. 806, at 99-101.) The forceps came apart, and Dr. Drezga flew backwards against the wall of the delivery room. (R. 806, at 100-01.) Dr. Drezga tried the forceps again. He did not do a vaginal examination to determine the position of Athan's head but simply replaced the forceps and resumed his "violent yanking." (R. 806, at 103-04.) According to the expert trial testimony, the proper placement of the forceps is very important; a physician should not attempt a forceps delivery unless he is absolutely sure where the forceps are. (R. 807, at 217-18, 235-40.)

As it turned out, the forceps were not properly placed. (R. 807, at 190, 251-52.) Heidi's mother and aunt were standing by the side of the bed, holding Heidi by her arms. Dr. Drezga pulled so hard that he pulled all three women forward. He would have pulled Heidi off the bed if her mother and aunt had not been holding her, but they were able to pull her back up on the bed again. (R. 806, at 163-66; R. 807, at 363; R. 808, at 572.) Again the forceps came apart. (R. 806, at 164.) Athan was then delivered by Caesarean section. (R. 806, at 102-03.)

The unrebutted evidence at trial showed that Dr. Drezga violated the standard of care for forceps deliveries (*e.g.*, R. 807, at 190, 225, 238-42, 251-52), and the court granted the plaintiffs a directed verdict on the issues of Dr. Drezga's negligence and proximate cause (R. 809, at 761). Dr. Drezga has not appealed that ruling.

As a result of Dr. Drezga's negligence, Athan suffered a displaced, comminuted skull fracture. His broken skull caused bleeding within his brain (both subdural and epidural hematomas). (R. 807, at 256; R. 808, at 480-81, 491-92.) Athan had extensive bruising down the right side of his face, on the back of his head and down his neck. (R. 806, at 105, 133-34.) As a result of his traumatic brain injuries, Athan suffered left-sided hemiparesis, leaving his left side weak. (R. 808, at 465.) He does not clutch anything with his left hand or arm and drags his left leg. (R. 806, at 167-69; R. 808, at 560, 563.) His brain injuries caused seizures, one as recently as three months before trial, and he is at risk for seizures in the future. (*See* R. 806, at 167; R. 808, at 451, 565.) Athan has

problems with balance and spatial awareness. He stumbles, falls and bumps his head a lot. (See R. 806, at 168; R. 807, at 309-10; R. 808, at 560.) Athan's brain injuries have also caused permanent cognitive deficits. He scored in the lowest percentile in various categories in the Batelle Developmental Inventory, including problem-solving, reasoning, memory, attention and adaptive or self-help skills. (See R. 807, at 296, 303-06. See also R. 808, at 548.) He has a limited attention span and poor impulse control. (R. 807, at 308-10, 339-40, 347; R. 808, at 510-11, 561.) Athan also has speech problems, making it difficult to understand him. (R. 806, at 169; R. 807, at 315, 338, 341-46; R. 808, at 513-14.) At the time of trial, Athan was three and a half years old and still was not toilet trained. (R. 806, at 168.) Dr. Sam Goldstein, a neuropsychologist, testified that Athan is developing at about two-thirds the rate of normal children and that his disabilities will become more apparent as he gets older. (R. 808, at 503-04, 509, 517-18.) Athan's life expectancy at the time of trial was 70.9 more years. (R. 297.)

After four days of evidence, the court instructed the jury, "It is your duty to award the plaintiff, Athan Montgomery, such damages, if any, that you find from a preponderance of the evidence, will *fairly and adequately* compensate him for the injury and damage sustained." (R. 294 (emphasis added); see also R. 809, at 777.) Dr. Drezga did not object to this instruction (R. 809, at 769-70), but in fact had requested essentially the same language (R. 355).

The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiffs, finding that Athan had suffered \$2,272,735.30 in total damages, including \$1,250,000 in general (noneconomic) damages. (R. 360.) A judgment was entered for these amounts. (R. 370-72.)

Dr. Drezga has never challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's verdict, nor has he claimed that the verdict was the result of passion or prejudice. Instead, he asked the trial court to reduce the jury's award of general damages from \$1,250,000 to \$250,000 on the grounds that section 78-14-7.1 of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act limited general damages in a medical malpractice action to a total of \$250,000. (*See* R. 364-68.) After briefing and a hearing, the trial court granted Dr. Drezga's motion. (R. 782-85.) Based on its decision, the trial court entered an Amended Judgment in the total amount of \$1,181,829.40 plus costs and interest (R. 786-88), from which the plaintiffs have appealed (R. 792-93).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As applied in this case, the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act's damage cap, UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-7.1, violates various provisions of the Utah Constitution.

The damage cap violates the Utah Constitution's guarantee of a right to a remedy contained in article I, section 11, because it deprives Athan Montgomery of 80 percent of the remedy afforded him by due course of law and does not provide him an effective and reasonable alternative remedy. Moreover, abrogation of the remedy is not justified by a

clear social or economic evil to be eliminated, and even if there were such an evil, elimination of the remedy is an arbitrary and unreasonable means of achieving the objective. (Pt. I.)

The damage cap also violates due process, since it is not carefully drawn or reasonably necessary to secure an important or weighty governmental objective. (Pt. II.)

The damage cap violates the uniform operation of the laws provision of the Utah Constitution, article I, section 24, because it makes unreasonable classifications among categories of injured persons. It denies full recovery to those injured by doctors, while those injured by other tortfeasors are entitled to full recovery. It denies full recovery to those most seriously injured while allowing full recovery to those whose injuries are relatively minor. These classifications cannot be justified. (Pt. III.)

By abrogating the jury's determination of damages, the damage cap also violates the right to a jury trial in civil cases guaranteed by article I, section 10 of the Utah Constitution. (Pt. IV.)

Finally, by exercising powers properly belonging to the judicial department, the legislature violated the separation-of-powers provision of the Utah Constitution, article V, section 1, when it enacted the damage cap. (Pt. V.)

ARGUMENT

THE DAMAGE CAP IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE.

Based on section 78-14-7.1 of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, the trial court reduced the jury's award of general damages from \$1,250,000 to the generic amount of \$250,000, without regard for the nature, severity or duration of the injuries from which Athan Montgomery suffers. At the time Athan's claim arose, section 78-14-7.1 read:

In a malpractice action against a health care provider, an injured plaintiff may recover noneconomic losses to compensate for pain, suffering, and inconvenience. In no case shall the amount of damages awarded for such noneconomic loss exceed \$250,000. This limitation does not affect awards of punitive damages.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-7.1 (1996).¹ The damage cap applies regardless of whether a jury finds that a larger award is necessary to fully compensate the plaintiff. In fact, for plaintiffs whose injuries are minor, the cap will rarely, if ever, apply because the noneconomic damages awarded will generally be below the cap. The cap comes into play *only* in serious cases, when the jury awards noneconomic damages in excess of the cap *and* when the jury's award is supported by the evidence and would be upheld by both the

¹ The damage cap was enacted in 1986. *See* 1986 Utah Laws ch. 205, § 1. Before that, there was no damage cap in medical malpractice cases. The statute was amended in 2001 to increase the cap to \$400,000 for claims arising on or after July 1, 2001, and before July 1, 2002. The cap is adjusted for inflation each year thereafter. *See* 2001 Utah Laws ch. 246. Because Athan was injured between 1986 and 2001, the court reduced his noneconomic damages to \$250,000.

trial court and any reviewing courts. The more severely a plaintiff is injured, the greater the distorting effect of the damage cap.

Other courts have recognized the important role noneconomic damages play in cases such as this:

[A] tort victim “gains” nothing from the jury’s award for economic loss, since that money merely replaces that which he has actually lost. It is only the award above the out-of-pocket loss that is available to compensate in some way for the pain, suffering, physical impairment or disfigurement that the victim must endure until death.

Carson v. Maurer, 424 A.2d 825, 837 (N.H. 1980). *See also Ransom v. New-York & Erie R.R. Co.*, 15 N.Y. 415, 423 (1857) (if damages cannot be awarded except for pecuniary loss, “our law affords but a very inadequate remedy for injuries sustained”).

The general damages the jury awarded Athan Montgomery are the only compensation he will ever receive for a lifetime of physical and mental disabilities that Dr. Drezga’s negligence caused. The general damages were in an amount the jury believed would fairly and adequately compensate Athan for the permanent physical, mental and cognitive injuries that will affect him for the rest of his life--the next seventy years or so. By capping his general damages at \$250,000, the trial court deprived Athan of 80 percent of the remedy awarded him by due course of law. The trial court’s action violated several provisions of the Utah Constitution.

I. The Damage Cap Violates the Right-to-a-Remedy Provision of the Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 11.

Article I, section 11 of the Utah Constitution provides in relevant part: “All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay” This provision (also referred to at times as the “open courts” provision) was not intended as “an empty gesture”; it was meant to impose some limitation on the power of the legislature to change legal rights. *Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp.*, 717 P.2d 670, 675 (Utah 1985). It is meant for the benefit of people like Athan Montgomery, “who are injured in their persons, property or reputations since they are generally isolated in society, belong to no identifiable group, and rarely are able to rally the political process to their aid.” *Id.* at 676 (citation omitted). *See also Horton v. Goldminer’s Daughter*, 785 P.2d 1087, 1093 (Utah 1989) (“the framers of our Constitution . . . placed the open courts provision in the Utah Constitution to protect important individual rights against legislative power”); James E. Magleby, *The Constitutionality of Utah’s Medical Malpractice Damages Cap Under the Utah Constitution*, 21 J. CONTEMP. L. 217, 226 (1995) (“In simple terms, the open courts provision is designed to protect those most affected by tort reform--the injured plaintiff”). As this Court explained in *Horton*:

The protection of such basic personal interests [as a remedy for injuries to one’s person] from the power of temporary majorities to infringe them is a primary function of a constitution. Certainly, the right to the protection of

the law for one's person, property, and reputation is a right that is as essential to the happiness of an individual as is liberty. While democracy is the mainspring of our republican form of government, the founders of this state and this nation knew that certain basic rights could be rooted in law more effectively than can be accomplished by relying on the sometimes fickle goodwill of the popular organs of government for their protection.

785 P.2d at 1091. For that reason, under article I, section 11, "an individual [may] not be arbitrarily deprived of effective remedies designed to protect basic individual rights."

Berry, 717 P.2d at 675.

The term "remedy" used in article I, section 11, means "the full, fair, and complete remedy provided by the common law." *Condemarin v. University Hosp.*, 775 P.2d 348, 372 (Utah 1989) (per Stewart, J.) (citations omitted). It does not distinguish between economic and noneconomic damages, nor does it suggest that the right to a remedy may be limited to claims above or below a particular figure. *See Smith v. Department of Ins.*, 507 So.2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987) (construing the open courts provision of the Florida Constitution). It guarantees meaningful access to the courts "whether or not liability [insurance] rates are high." *See Lucas v. United States*, 757 S.W.2d 687, 691 (Tex. 1988).

The Malpractice Act's damage cap violates the right-to-a-remedy provision of the Utah Constitution, article I, section 11. *Condemarin, v. University Hosp.*, 775 P.2d 348, 357-58 (Utah 1989) (per Durham, J.).

In *Condemarin*, this court held the Utah Governmental Immunity Act's damage cap then in effect unconstitutional as applied to the University Hospital.² See 775 P.2d at 366 (per Durham, J.). See also *McCorvey v. Utah State Dep't of Transp.*, 868 P.2d 41, 47 (Utah 1993). Justices Durham and Zimmerman would have held that the recovery limits statutes and section 63-30-3,³ operating together, were unconstitutional under a due process analysis. See 775 P.2d at 364. Justice Stewart would have held the damage cap unconstitutional as applied to the University Hospital because it violated equal protection. *Id.* at 369 (per Stewart, J.).

Although the three justices in the majority in *Condemarin* did not agree on the best constitutional analysis, they all agreed on some points. First, they all agreed that the right to a remedy for damages to one's person was an important substantive right protected by article I, section 11 of the Utah Constitution. See, e.g., 775 P.2d at 360 (Durham, J.) (the right to recover for personal injuries is "an important substantive right"), 366, 368 (Zimmerman, J.) (article I, section 11 provides "substantive protections" to "every

² *Condemarin* involved the \$100,000 limitation found in former sections 63-30-29 and -34, which the main opinion referred to collectively as the "recovery limits statutes." 775 P.2d at 348 n.1 (per Durham, J.). The Governmental Immunity Act has since been amended, but the analysis of the justices in the majority did not appear to depend on any differences between the former statutory scheme and current section 63-30-34. See, e.g., *id.* at 370 n.1 (Stewart, J., concurring) ("My analysis . . . is the same under either the current statute or its predecessor").

³ That section extended to governmental entities immunity from suit for any injury resulting from the operation of a government-owned hospital.

person’ of a ‘remedy by due course of law’ for ‘an injury done to him [or her] in his [or her] person’”; this right is one “to which the Utah Constitution’s drafters assigned a degree of sanctity”), & 372, 373 (Stewart, J.) (article I, section 11 protects “the right to a full remedy for a personal injury,” which is an “important” if not “fundamental” right).

Second, all three justices agreed that the statutory cap on damages interferes with that right. *Id.* at 358, 363 (Durham, J.), 368 (Zimmerman, J.) & 372 (Stewart, J.).

Third, they all agreed that, because the statute impinges on a constitutional right, the presumption in favor of constitutionality disappears, and heightened scrutiny is required, whether the Court analyzes the statute under due process or equal protection. *See id.* at 354-56 (Durham, J.) (“heightened,” “intermediate” or “realistic” review required), 368 (Zimmerman, J.) (“careful scrutiny” required, and “the burden of demonstrating the constitutionality of the statute shifts to its proponents”), & 372, 373 (Stewart, J.) (the appropriate standard “has more bite than the minimum scrutiny standard”). *See also Lee v. Gaufin*, 867 P.2d 572, 591 (Utah 1993) (Zimmerman, J., concurring in the result) (when the Court has found that a statute limits a right protected by article I, section 11, “we have, *de facto*, shifted from a presumption that the limiting statute is constitutional to a presumption that the statute is unconstitutional”); *Hipwell ex rel. Jensen v. Sharp*, 858 P.2d 987, 988-89 n.4 (Utah 1993) (in *Condemarin*, a “majority of the court agreed that because the open courts clause was implicated, the cap must be analyzed under a heightened level of scrutiny for constitutional purposes”).

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