2001

Heidi J. Judd, personally and as the natural parent
and guardian of Athan Montgomery for and on
behalf of Athan Montgomery v. Gregory Drezga,
M.D. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

⁴⁰ Tussman & tenBroek, The Equal Protection of the Laws, 38 Calif. L. Rev. 341, 343 (1949).

is a potential victim of medical malpractice, “[n]o group is singled out by legislation that limits the ability to recover” for medical malpractice. 2002 UT 79 at ¶ 98 (Wilkins, J., concurring and dissenting). Accordingly, the cap does not create classifications that result in different treatment being given persons who are, in fact, similarly situated” Mountain Fuel Supply, 752 P.2d at 888.

Second, plaintiff claims that the cap discriminates between medical malpractice victims with primarily economic injuries, on the one hand, and those with primarily non-economic injuries, on the other. (See App. Br. at 32-33.) As discussed above, for several reasons independent of the medical malpractice context, the law views differently a plaintiff’s rights to recover economic and non-economic losses. The law often treats soft and hard damages differently because it is often difficult to determine the existence of soft damages, and because once their existence is determined, they are hard to measure in dollars. Neither is true of hard damages. As a consequence, the law is more wary of soft damages. See supra at pp. 30-33. If the courts and legislature may make this distinction in other areas of the law, it is hard to see how it can be unconstitutionally discriminatory in an area where there is empirical evidence that the very unpredictability of soft damage awards is the source of much of the pressure on medical malpractice insurance rates and the very availability of insurance.

Third, plaintiff claims that the statute discriminates against the most severely injured because there is a general correlation between the non-economic harm and economic losses. (See App. Br. at 33.) Plaintiff, however, offers no empirical evidence of any such correlation between the severity of the injury and high damages for pain and suffering. All that is offered is bald assertion, which is an insufficient basis for an argument, much less a holding of unconstitutionality. It takes very little creativity to conceive of numerous scenarios in which plaintiff’s assertion would not be the case. The

unpredictability of jury verdicts and the inherent difficulty in ascertaining soft damages, the ineffability of measuring them in dollars, and their subjectivity, makes any correlation speculative at best.

Plaintiff's argument also should be rejected because the damage cap is reasonably related to the legitimate purpose of keeping medical malpractice rates within the reach of more health care providers. Mountain Fuel Supply, 752 P.2d at 887. Plaintiff argues that even if the classifications made by the legislature are permissible, the means it has chosen—caps on soft damages—is not reasonably related to the objective of the legislation, which is to maintain the availability of medical malpractice insurance and keep it affordable. Plaintiff attempts to rely on this court's decision in Lee, which skeptically approached the legislature's attempt to curb the growth in malpractice premiums by imposing a very short statute of limitations on minors. The Lee court concluded that there was little evidence before the legislature that would justify the conclusion that the measure would have the result intended.

First, as discussed in detail above, Lee is distinguishable because it effectively made it impossible for a minor to bring a claim. See supra at pp. 28-29. Second, in Lee the court concluded that the insurance market was national and that the legislature had no basis to think that what it did in Utah would affect the national insurance market. See Lee, 867 P.2d at 584-588. Here, the legislature made the judgment, supported by empirical evidence, that the insurance market for medical malpractice insurance is local. See supra at pp. 4-10. It also made the judgment that statutory ceilings on non-economic damages effectively contain the growth in insurance premiums and maintain the availability of insurance. See id. That judgment was based on sound evidence of the type a legislature is entitled to rely upon in passing forward-looking legislation. See, e.g., Craftsman, 1999 UT 18 at ¶ 23.

Third, in Lee the court found that the empirical results of the legislature's action did not show that the measure was an effective way to achieve its ends. Here, the post-enactment evidence gathered in the Health Care Amicus Brief shows that the legislature's pre-enactment determination was correct. Caps on soft damages have kept down the growth in unpredictable awards, have kept the rate of the increase in insurance premiums down, and have maintained the availability of insurance for health care providers. Indeed, the evidence is that caps on damages are one of the few measures that are effective. See supra at pp. 8-10.

Finally, this court's approach in Lee, like that in Berry, of harshly scrutinizing and second-guessing the legislature's empirical evidence and the wisdom of its judgment, has not been much in evidence in the more recent cases challenging similar statutes. See Craftsman, 1999 UT 18 at ¶ 23 (the majority looked only at legislative objectives and required the party challenging the statute to submit evidence that the objectives were not met). See also Hirpa, 948 P.2d at 793-94; Parks, 2002 UT 55 at ¶ 8.

Lastly, Plaintiff contends that even if a heightened standard of the reasonable relation test is not required, the ceiling on non-economic damages is still unconstitutional. (See App. Br. at 38.) As demonstrated above, there is a very close relationship between the means used and the end sought, and the means are narrowly tailored to the end. Under such circumstances, even a heightened standard of reasonable relation is satisfied; axiomatically, a less severe test will also be met. The "rational basis" standard applicable under article I, section 24 is very deferential to the legislature. "[I]f any state of facts reasonably can be conceived that would sustain it, the existence of that state of facts at the time law was enacted must be assumed." Mountain Fuel Supply, 752 P.2d at 384.

The court should reject the plaintiff's challenge to the cap under the uniform operation of the laws provision.

V. THE STATUTORY CEILING ON NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES IN MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS DOES NOT VIOLATE THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL PROVISION OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 10.

Art. I, section 10 of the Utah Constitution guarantees the right to a jury trial in civil cases.⁴⁷ This right is analogous to that secured by the Seventh Amendment of the federal constitution.⁴⁸

Plaintiff argues that the right to a jury trial is a fundamental right that has been violated by the statutory ceiling on non-economic damages because it operates by “arbitrarily modifying a jury’s damage award” and therefore “infringes the constitutional right to a jury trial.” (App. Br. at 45.) Plaintiff appears to argue that the jury trial right is a right to have damages, including non-economic damages, determined exclusively by the jury without any oversight by a court, other than the possibility of a remittitur coupled with an opportunity for a new trial. (See *id.* at 42-43.) To plaintiff, the right is apparently absolute. (See *id.* at 41-42.) Plaintiff’s argument is without support in Utah law.

The only Utah authority cited by plaintiff in support of his position that his right to a jury trial has been violated is Justice Durham’s separate opinion in *Condemarin*, 775 P.2d at 365-66 (per Durham, J.). That opinion cites a violation of article I, section 10 as one of the alternative grounds upon which that justice would have struck down the \$100,000 cap on total damages applicable to the University of Utah Hospital. *See id.* No other justice joined in that part of the opinion. Interestingly, plaintiff asserts, as logic seems to require, that the right of the jury to determine damages without interference by

⁴⁷ Article I, section 10 states in relevant part that “the Legislature shall establish the number of jurors [in civil cases] by statute, but in no event shall a jury consist of no fewer than eight persons” and that “three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict.”

⁴⁸ The Seventh Amendment states: “In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury shall be otherwise reexamined in any court of the United States, than according to the rules of common law.” U.S. Const. amend VII.

the court is absolute, and a cap of any type on a jury's verdict would offend the constitution. (See App. Br. at 41-42.) Justice Durham's opinion, however, does not take this logical absolutist approach. Rather, it applies what amounts to a heightened scrutiny standard to find that the cap was invalid because it limited total damages recoverable to \$100,000, an "absurdly low" amount unlikely to cover "even the medical expenses of plaintiff," and to further find that there was a lack of "any evidence" justifying the ceiling. On this basis, Justice Durham was led to "strike the balance" in favor of finding an infringement of the right to jury trial. Condemarin, 775 P.2d at 366 (per Durham, J.).

Even if the court were to accept Justice Durham's case-specific dicta in Condemarin and apply this balancing analysis to the cap on non-economic damages, the balance should be struck in favor of the statute's validity. The limit challenged here is significantly higher than that in Condemarin, and it applies only to soft damages. In addition, as of last year, the limit on soft damages has been raised to \$400,000, four times the absolute cap on all damages in Condemarin. Moreover, unlike the limit in Condemarin, ample justification for this narrow prescription is offered. Under Justice Durham's test in Condemarin, the present statute would be upheld.

But the law in Utah on the application of article I, section 10 is not Justice Durham's Condemarin opinion.⁴⁹ Rather, it is set forth in two later rulings by the Utah Supreme Court in which a majority rejected challenges to caps under this provision. Neither case is cited by appellant. In McCorvey v. Utah State Department of Transportation, this court held that a \$250,000 cap on total damages against the state did not violate article I, section 10. See 868 P.2d at 47-48. In Parks v. Utah Transit

⁴⁹The sole authority cited by Justice Durham was a federal district court opinion in Boyd v. Bulala, 672 F. Supp. 915 (W.D. Va. 1987). See 775 P.2d at 365-66. Bulala has long since been reversed by the Fourth Circuit, which holds that the right to jury trial is not violated by that state's cap because "it is not the role of the jury to determine the legal consequences of its factual findings. . . . That is a matter for the legislature." Boyd v. Bulala, 877 F.2d 1191, 1196 (4th Cir. 1989).

Authority, the court summarily rejected the same claim when made against another total damages cap. See 2002 UT 55 at ¶ 18. While both cases were decided in the governmental immunity context, there is no analytical distinction between a governmental immunity case as contrasted to a private party case when it comes to the relative roles of the jury and the legislature as respects the constitutionality of a cap on damages. The right is either to have the jury set damages in their entirety, or it is not. And the McCorvey and Parks cases have firmly held that the jury trial right does not impair the legislature's ability to cap damages.

Other jurisdictions have likewise rejected appellant's argument. In Etheridge v. Medical Ctr. Hosps., the Virginia Supreme Court concluded that a statutory cap did not violate the right to jury trial because the role of the jury was limited to ascertaining facts and assessing damages. See 376 S.E.2d 525, 529 (Va. 1989). The court reasoned that statutory caps merely established the outer limits of a remedy and that this determination was a matter of law. Since the trial court imposed the cap only after the jury had fulfilled its fact-finding function, as is the procedure in Utah, there was no interference with the right to trial by jury. See id. at 529. The Indiana Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion for similar reasons. See Johnson v. Saint Vincent Hospital Inc., 404 N.E.2d 585, 592-93 (Ind. 1980).

Finally, the United States Supreme Court in Cooper Industries, Inc. v. Leatherman Tool Group, Inc., 532 U.S. 424, 437 (2001), held that the determination by a reviewing court of the lawfulness of a jury determination of an award of punitive damages is not a review by the court of a determination of fact by the jury, but a question of law. Consequently, for an appellate court to determine that an award exceeds the lawful limit and to order an award reduced does not offend the federal constitutional right to a jury trial. See id. at 437-39. Analogous reasoning would result in holding that the Utah

Constitution is likewise not offended by a court reducing a damage award because it exceeds an amount that the legislature has determined is unlawful.

In sum, the right to trial by jury is not violated by the cap.

VI. THE COURT SHOULD DISREGARD PLAINTIFF'S DUE PROCESS AND SEPARATION OF POWERS ARGUMENTS AS THEY WERE NOT PRESERVED BELOW.

Plaintiff's brief raises for the first time two additional substantive arguments. Plaintiff asserts that the statutory ceiling on non-economic damages in medical malpractice cases violates the Utah Constitution's due process provision, article I, section 7, because it restricts appellant's right to recover full damages, and the Utah Constitution's separation of powers provision, article V, section 1, because the legislature exercised judicial power by enacting the statute. Because these claims were not preserved below, this court should reject them out of hand.

This court adheres to a "longstanding rule that [it] will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal," including constitutional issues. Julian v. State, 966 P.2d 249, 258 (Utah 1998); see also Monson v. Carver, 928 P.2d 1017, 1022 (Utah 1996). To preserve issues for appeal, parties must raise them in a manner in which the "trial court [is] offered an opportunity to rule on [the] issue." Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co., 966 P.2d 844, 847 (Utah 1998). "A trial court has the opportunity to rule if the following three requirements are met: (1) 'the issue must be raised in a timely fashion;' (2) 'the issue must be specifically raised;' and (3) a party must introduce 'supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.'" Id. (citation omitted). Plaintiff satisfied none of these conditions.

Plaintiff did not raise either the due process or the separation-of-powers arguments properly before the trial court. Neither point was briefed. (See R. 447-74.) Plaintiff's counsel did allude to these points at oral argument, but only in rebuttal, and the trial court

did not have before it “supporting evidence or relevant legal authority” on these two legal theories. (See R. 810 at pp. 44-45.) Plaintiff’s counsel admitted as much to the trial judge. (See *id.*)

Plaintiff had ample opportunity to raise these constitutional claims before the trial court and failed to do so. This court should decline to consider these arguments.⁵⁹

A. Even if the Argument Had Been Preserved, the Statutory Ceiling on Non-Economic Damages in Medical Malpractice Actions Does Not Violate the Due Process Provision of the Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7.

Plaintiff’s first improperly preserved argument is that the cap violates the due process clause, article I, section 7. That section reads: “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.” Plaintiff maintains that the right to recover full damages for personal injuries is a substantive right protected by Utah’s due process clause and that this right is violated by the statutory ceiling on non-economic damages in medical malpractice cases. (App. Br. at 28.)

This court has recognized that under the Utah Constitution, a substantive “due process question can . . . arise when a statute provides that a particular right is automatically lost or impaired in a specific circumstance” Wells v. Children’s Aid Society of Utah, 681 P.2d 199, 205-06 (Utah 1984). If the court determines that the right impinged upon is a fundamental right, a heightened scrutiny standard applies, requiring the proponents of the statute to show “(1) a compelling state interest in the result to be achieved and (2) that the means adopted are ‘narrowly tailored to achieve the basic statutory purpose.’” *Id.* at 206 (internal citation omitted) (finding that parental rights are fundamental). On the other hand, if the statute does not infringe upon a fundamental right, it will be upheld if it “bears a rational relationship to an end of government not

⁵⁹ The only exceptions to the preservation requirement are plain error and manifest injustice, neither of which are applicable here. See State v. Lopez, 886 P.2d 1105, 1113 (Utah 1994).

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